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Chinkokuji Temple

Chinkokuji Temple is said to have been established in 806 by Kukai (774-835; posthumously
known as Kobo Daishi), an influential monk who introduced Shingon teachings to Japan after

traveling to China in 804 to study esoteric Buddhism.

According to legend, Kukai sailed into a heavy storm on the way to China. He prayed to
Buddha and the bodhisattvas, and to the Three Female Deities of Munakata—three Shinto

deities who protect seafarers.

As Kukai prayed, the figure of Fudo Myoo, a fearsome guardian deity who protects the
faithful and subdues evil spirits, appeared before him. His ship reached China safely. On his
return to Japan, Kukai visited Munakata Taisha to give thanks to the deities for his safe
passage. Chinkokuji Temple enshrines Fudo Myoo as well as the Three Female Deities of
Munakata, enshrined here as three Buddhas.

The Three Female Deities are portrayed as Dainichi Nyorai, the cosmic Buddha; Shaka
Nyorai, the historical Buddha; and Yakushi Nyorai, the healing Buddha. After Buddhism was
introduced to Japan in the sixth century, an overlap developed between Shinto and Buddhist
deities and they came to be portrayed interchangeably. The temple is within sight of Hetsu-
miya, the largest of the three Munakata Taisha Shinto shrines venerating the Three Female

Deities of Munakata.

The temple precincts include the main hall (hondo), the Gomado Hall, and several smaller
worship halls. The main hall houses five Buddhas, three of which represent the Three Female
Deities of Munakata. The Gomado Hall holds fire rituals to honor Fudo Myoo. A path leads
visitors through the forested grounds past statues and stone monuments, including a statue of
Kobo Daishi.

One of the main events at the temple is the annual memorial ceremony for Fudo Myoo on

April 28. This is the only time the statue of Fudo Myoo is displayed for public viewing. The



ceremony includes prayers around a ritual fire. Afterwards, worshippers can walk across

warm coals to rid themselves of bad luck. The ceremony is open to the public.

The temple grounds bloom throughout the year, with plum blossoms in January, cherry
blossoms, azaleas and irises in spring, and hydrangeas in early summer. The summer months
bring lotus blossoms and red spider lilies. From November to December the leaves of

Japanese maples and ginkgo trees turn shades of red and gold.
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Orihata-jinja Shrine

Orihata-jinja Shrine overlooks Kanezaki, the largest fishing port in the Munakata area. The
main deity venerated here is Takenouchi no Sukune no Mikoto, a legendary statesman who is
said to have served five emperors, as well as the empress-regent Jingu. According to legend,
the empress-regent reigned from 201 to 269, and she and Takenouchi no Sukune sailed from
Kanezaki on an expedition to Korea.

At the base of the steps leading up to the shrine is a massive rock, bound with ropes called
shimenawa, indicating its sacred status. The rock was originally submerged offshore, and
according to local legend, it was long thought to be an ancient bell, lost on a sea voyage from

Korea.

From the top of the shrine steps, visitors can enjoy sweeping views across the fishing port
and Kanezaki Beach. Behind the shrine is a subtropical forest with over 20 species of trees,
including giant oak, yew plum pine (Podocarpus macrophyllus), sweet viburnum, camphor,

and sakaki (Cleyera japonica), a plant traditionally used in Shinto ceremonies.

To the left of the main approach to Orihata-jinja is a small shrine dedicated to Ebisu, a deity
who protects fishermen. Local fishermen and ama divers worship here. Ama divers—
typically women—free dive to gather sea urchins, abalone, and other shellfish from the sea
floor. The Kanezaki area has a long tradition of ama divers, and there is a monument to them

nearby.
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Karatsu Kaido Harumachi

Harumachi is a historical townscape on the Karatsu Kaido highway, a roughly 100-kilometer-

long road connecting Karatsu in Saga Prefecture with Kitakyushu in Fukuoka Prefecture.

The Karatsu Kaido was one of the major roads through Kyushu in the Edo period (1603—
1867). It was used by daimyo lords, who were required to attend the shogun and live in Edo

(modern-day Tokyo) every other year, demonstrating their loyalty to the government.

While much of the road has been modernized, a few stretches retain a historical atmosphere.
Harumachi is one such area, with its variety of restored buildings from the Edo period, Meiji
era (1868-1912), and Taisho era (1912-1926). Some of the old houses now serve as shops
and restaurants. Kaido Soba Takarai is a soba restaurant in a restored 150-year-old house, and

Rakuichi Rakuza is an antique shop in a grand Taisho-era residence.

Harumachi is the birthplace of two renowned postwar painters, the brothers Nakamura
Ken’ichi (1895-1967) and Nakamura Takuji (1897-1988). Both specialized in Western
figurative painting. Their childhood home, built in 1907, has been restored as a private

museum.

Through local conservation efforts, many of the older buildings have been preserved or
renovated to retain the traditional character of the area. The historic Harumachi section of the

Karatsu Kaido is marked by a large wooden lantern and a map of the buildings of interest.
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Karatsu Kaido Akamajuku

Akamajuku is a post town on the Karatsu Kaido highway, one of the major transport routes
through Kyushu in the Edo period (1603-1867). Before railway infrastructure developed in
Fukuoka in the Meiji era (1868-1912), the Karatsu Kaido was the main route between
Karatsu in Saga Prefecture and Kitakyushu in Fukuoka Prefecture. Akamajuku was one of 21
post towns along the route, where travelers could water their horses, eat a meal, and find
lodgings for the night. It was the main retail area in Munakata until the Meiji era, when a new

rail line connecting Fukuoka with Kitakyushu bypassed the town.

Today, a 500-meter stretch of the Karatsu Kaido in Akamajuku retains its old-fashioned

atmosphere, with shops and townhouses built in the nineteenth century.

A handful of businesses from the Edo period remain in operation, including the Katsuya Sake
Brewery, which supplies sake for Shinto rituals at Munakata Taisha. The brewery has a wide
street frontage, with a Meiji-era extension on the original Edo-period building. The water for
making sake is drawn from one of the two remaining wells in the area. The other well is at

Akamakan, the tourist information center.

According to local legend, the area got its name from a red horse. As the story goes, Emperor
Jimmu—believed to be Japan’s first emperor—was traveling through the area with his forces
on the way to Yamato (present-day Nara) when a deity appeared, riding a red horse, and
guided them safely through the area. The name Akama can be read as “red horse.” It is said
that Hasshogu Shrine in Munakata was built at the request of Emperor Tenmu (631-686),

Japan’s fortieth emperor, to enshrine the deity that protected Emperor Jimmu on his journey.
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Hokuto no Mizukumi Seaside Park

Hokuto no Mizukumi Seaside Park is an ideal place for stargazing. The park, which faces the
Genkai Sea on the western coast of Kyushu, has very little light pollution. It is one of the few
places in the world where visitors can see the Big Dipper (part of the constellation Ursa
Major), appear to dip into the sea. The phenomenon appears in the sky around the 33rd
parallel north, on the northern horizon. Visitors can see it on evenings between late
September (around 10 p.m.) and late October (around 8:30 p.m.), when the cup of the Big

Dipper touches the horizon.

There is an observatory at Hokuto no Mizukumi Seaside Park above the lifeguard station
where visitors can ring a “bell of happiness,” decorated with the seven stars of the Big

Dipper.

The beach in the park is next to the mouth of the Tsuri River. It is a popular surfing
destination in Fukuoka, and annual surfing competitions are held here. Visitors can also try
stand-up paddleboarding (SUP) at the beach. Shower and toilet facilities are located below
the observatory, near the parking lot. The beach is a 10-minute walk from the Michi no EKi
Munakata Roadside Station, a facility with restaurants, tourist information, and rental

bicycles.
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Satsuki Matsubara Promenade

The Satsuki Matsubara Promenade is a paved walkway through a section of the Satsuki
Matsubara pine grove along the Munakata coast. The promenade is about 1.5 kilometers long
and starts near Hokuto no Mizukumi Seaside Park. Visitors can see the islands of Oshima and

Jinoshima from the walkway.

On a clear day, it is possible to see the island of Okinoshima in the distance, about 60

kilometers offshore. Okinoshima is a sacred site and off limits to visitors.

Pine trees were first planted here over 400 years ago under the direction of Kuroda Nagamasa
(1568-1623), who ruled Chikuzen Province (part of modern-day Fukuoka) in the early
seventeenth century. It was the first of eight pine groves he planted in the area to protect the
shoreline from erosion. Most of the current pine trees are around 200 years old, and the local
community is planting new pine seedlings to ensure the survival of the grove. The Satsuki
Matsubara pine grove stretches 5.5 kilometers along the coast between Kanezaki and

Konominato.

A cycling course runs along the pine grove. It starts at Michi no Eki Munakata Roadside
Station —a rest area a few minutes on foot from the promenade— and covers the main sights
around Munakata. In summer, the beach in front of the pine grove is a popular swimming

spot.
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Satsuki Matsubara Promenade Observation Decks

The Satsuki Matsubara Promenade is a paved walkway with wooden observation decks
offering scenic views along the coast. Visitors can see several islands from the observation
decks, including Oshima, Jinoshima, and Okinoshima. The promenade leads through a stretch
of Japanese black pines (Pinus thunbergii). Pine trees were first planted here over 400 years
ago to protect the beach from erosion. Much of the current grove was planted 200 years ago.

Views of a sacred island

Okinoshima is considered a sacred island and the deities that dwell there have been
worshipped since ancient times. On a clear day, visitors may be able to see the island, which
is about 60 kilometers offshore. Between the fourth and ninth centuries, rituals were
performed there to pray for safe sea travel. Locations on the coast with views of Okinoshima
are considered yohai spots, places for worshipping the island from afar. During the Edo

period (1603-1867), people came to these vantage spots in the pine grove to worship.

Two wooden observation decks face the ocean on the walking path, with signs indicating the
islands offshore. The largest islands, Oshima and Jinoshima, are clearly visible from the

observation decks, with Okinoshima located in the distance between them.

An ancient trade route

Around 80,000 artifacts dating from the fourth to ninth centuries have been found on
Okinoshima. They are believed to be offerings to the deities of Munakata Taisha for safe sea
travel. These votive objects, including horse accessories, a gold ring and bronze mirrors, are
from as far away as ancient Persia, evidence of early trade between Japan and other parts of

the world.

Ancient earthenware and pottery fragments have been excavated from the area near the pine
grove, some dating to around 5,000 years ago. Some of the later pieces match pottery found

on Okinoshima, indicating a direct connection between the two places.



In 2017, the Sacred Island of Okinoshima and Associated Sites in the Munakata Region was

registered as a World Heritage site.
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Mt. Mitake Observatory

Mt. Mitake Observatory, near the summit of Mt. Mitake on Oshima Island, has panoramic
views over the Genkai Sea to the islands of Okinoshima, Iki, and Tsushima, and to a stretch
of the Kyushu coastline from Fukuoka to Kitakyushu. The summit of the mountain is
believed to have been a place for remote worship (yohai) of Okinoshima, which is considered
sacred and is off limits to the general public. Since ancient times, people have visited

locations with views of Okinoshima to worship the island deities from afar.

Okinoshima is on an ancient sea route for trade and travel between Kyushu and the Korean
Peninsula, and seafarers would sometimes stop there to pray for safe travel or to shelter from
storms. Signage in English at the observatory introduces some of the artifacts that have been
found on Okinoshima. They date back to the fourth century and are believed to have been
used as offerings to the deities of Munakata Taisha for safe sea travel. The artifacts include

pottery vessels, a gold ring, and bronze mirrors, from as far away as ancient Persia.

Hiking around Mt. Mitake

The observatory is a popular rest stop on one of the Kyushu Olle courses, a series of hiking
routes across Kyushu, each of which can be covered in a day. The Oshima course is just over
11 kilometers long and takes around 4-5 hours to complete. Mitake-jinja Shrine, at the
summit of Mt. Mitake, is part of the Nakatsu-miya Shrine precincts. Nakatsu-miya is one of
the three shrines of Munakata Taisha, which revere the Three Female Deities of Munakata. A
steep path leads from the main sanctuary of Nakatsu-miya to Mt. Mitake Observatory and
Mitake-jinja Shrine. It takes around 20 minutes to reach the observatory. Mitake-jinja Shrine

is next to the observatory.
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Hasshogu Shrine

Hasshogu Shrine in the Yoshitake district of Munakata is said to have been founded in 674.
Four pairs of deities are venerated at the shrine, including those who created the islands of
Japan and those who protected Emperor Jimmu (believed to Japan’s first emperor), on a

journey through northern Kyushu.

Local legend recounts that Emperor Jimmu was traveling through the area from his base in
Hyuga (Miyazaki) to conquer the lands of Yamato (present-day Nara) when a deity appeared,
riding a red horse. The deity guided the emperor safely through the area. Several historic

votive tablets (ema) at the shrine depict this story.

It is said that a shrine was built here at the request of Emperor Tenmu (631-686), Japan’s
fortieth emperor, to enshrine the deities who protected Emperor Jimmu. Hasshogu Shrine has
played a role in protecting the imperial family and their retainers since it was established.
Toyotomi Hideyoshi (1537-1598), the famed warlord and politician who completed the
sixteenth-century unification of Japan begun by Oda Nobunaga (1534-1582), prayed here for
victory when he came to subdue the powerful warlords of Kyushu in 1586. After his success,

he dedicated several treasures to the shrine, including a sword.

An annual autumn festival has been celebrated at Hasshogu Shrine for over 200 years. Held
on the third weekend of October, the festival starts with an evening procession of local people
in Edo-period (1603-1867) dress, carrying lanterns and portable shrines from Hasshogu
Shrine to the Tsuri River. The approach to the shrine is lined with food stalls, adding to the
festive atmosphere. Other events during the festival weekend include horseback archery
performances, traditional dances, and children’s sumo matches. The festival concludes at

midnight on the Sunday.
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Windmill Observatory

On the north side of Oshima Island stands a windmill with a sheltered observation area and
views of the Genkai Sea. The hills near the windmill are covered with cosmos flowers in late
summer and with silvery pampas grass in fall. There is a small horse ranch near the windmill,

where visitors can book riding tours of the area.

Windmill Observatory is less than 10 minutes on foot from the ruins of a World War 11
artillery battery and observation station. Visitors can rent bicycles to get to Windmill
Observatory or take a loop bus from the ferry port, which stops at most sightseeing spots on
the island.

The windmill is a stop on one of the Kyushu Olle hiking courses. The Kyushu Olle is a series
of hiking routes across Kyushu, each of which can be covered in a day. The courses are well-
marked with signs and colored ribbons. The Oshima course is just over 11 kilometers long
and takes around 4-5 hours to complete.
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Artillery Battery Ruins

A concealed observation station and military artillery battery on Oshima Island are part of a
series of coastal fortifications around Kitakyushu. They were first installed during the Meiji
era (1868-1912) to protect the coastline from potential attacks by Russian and Chinese fleets.
Many were dismantled after the Japanese victory in the Russo-Japanese War (1904-1905).
Some fortifications were strengthened again in the 1930s, when Japanese forces were

stationed in Manchuria.

The battery on Oshima was completed in 1936. It consisted of four concrete gun turrets, a
concealed observation station, an ammunition depot, and a storage space for searchlights.
During World War |1, heavy artillery was installed, including four cannons with a range of
about 20 kilometers. The cannons are no longer on the island, but visitors can walk around

the circular concrete pits where they were mounted.

The observation station is a simple concrete bunker concealed in an artificial hill, with views
of the sea. It was used to calculate the distance and speed of enemy ships. Visitors can walk
through the station. On a clear day, it is possible to see Okinoshima, a sacred island

worshipped since ancient times.

During the Russo-Japanese War, Japan and Russia engaged in a naval battle off the coast of
Okinoshima, as the two sides fought over rival interests in Manchuria and Korea. The Naval
Battle of the Sea of Japan was fought May 27, 1905, in the Tsushima Strait, with Japanese
forces under the command of Admiral Togo Heihachiro (1848-1934). The Japanese navy
destroyed two-thirds of the Russian fleet. Some of the Russian sailors killed during the battle
were brought to Oshima to be buried. In 2013, a memorial to those who died on both sides
was built near the battery ruins. Each year, participants from both countries visit the site to

hold a memorial service.

The Tsushima Strait is close to the Sacred Island of Okinoshima. A priest who was stationed
on Okinoshima at Okitsu-miya Shrine (one of three shrines known collectively as Munakata
Taisha), witnessed the battle and recorded it in his journal. After the war, a compass from the



flagship Mikasa was donated to Munakata Taisha by Admiral Togo Heihachiro to
commemorate the victory. Visitors can see the compass at the Shimpokan Museum, in the

precincts of Hetsu-miya Shrine at Munakata Taisha.
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Akamakan Tourist Center

The Akamakan Tourist Center is in Akamajuku, a post town on the Karatsu Kaido
highway—a major route through Fukuoka during the Edo period (1603-1867). In the area
around Akamakan are shops and townhouses in a mix of styles, mainly from the nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries. The modern tourist center was constructed to resemble an Edo-

period merchant house, using materials salvaged from traditional-style buildings.

The Akamakan Tourist Center is staffed by local volunteers, some of whom speak English.
Visitors can dress in a kimono and participate in a tea ceremony. The center offers a range of
kimonos for men and women in all sizes. Visitors are welcome to stroll the old-fashioned
streets dressed in a kimono. Reservations for these activities should be made at least three

days in advance.

The tourist center has maps of the local area and pamphlets about the history and attractions
of the Munakata area, rental bicycles, and free Wi-Fi. There is a cafe and a shop selling local
crafts and specialties, such as rice crackers and soy sauce. In the courtyard is one of the two
remaining wells in Akamajuku. There were seven wells in the area during the Edo period,
drawing water from an underground spring. The other working well is at the Katsuya Sake
Brewery next to Akamakan. The brewery, which uses the well water, supplies sake for Shinto

rituals at Munakata Taisha.

The Karatsu Kaido was the main route connecting Karatsu in Saga with Kitakyushu in the
Edo period. Akamajuku was one of 21 post towns in the area, where travelers could find

lodgings, have a meal, and shop.
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Jinoshima Island

Jinoshima is a mountainous, forested island off the coast of Fukuoka, famous for its roughly
6,000 wild camellia trees, which bloom from late January through March. The island is a
popular day-trip destination, with two ports accessible by ferry from Konominato Port on the
mainland. In 1996, two mountain roads were planted with camellia trees to create an
attractive walking path along the length of the island. The route can be covered in under two

hours.

Camellias

The thousands of camellia trees growing across the island bloom from late January through
March. At the Jinoshima Camellia Festival in March, food stalls sell locally caught seafood,
and there are musical performances. In fall, the mature camellia seeds are collected to

produce camellia oil, which is used for cooking and as a moisturizer for the hair and skin.

Tomari Fishing Port

Jinoshima has two small fishing ports, Tomari and Toyoka, and the ferry stops at both.
Tomari Fishing Port is closer to the mainland. Traces of the original stone wharf remain,
which was constructed on the orders of Kuroda Nagamasa (1568-1623), the ruler of
Chikuzen Province (modern-day Fukuoka).

Toyoka Fishing Port

Toyoka is the island’s smaller fishing port, located on the west side. The only shop and only
restaurant on the island are at Toyoka. A small Shinto shrine, Maki-jinja, overlooks the port.
A camellia-lined path leads from the port to Kurase Observatory on the northernmost tip of

the island.

Itsukushima Shrine
This small Shinto shrine near Tomari Fishing Port venerates the Three Female Deities of
Munakata, who protect sea routes. In July, residents of the island hold the Jinoshima Gion

Yamakasa Festival to pray for protection from disease and disaster. Starting from



Itsukushima Shrine, residents wheel a decorated float through the town, then transport it by

boat to Toyoka Fishing Port before returning it to the shrine.

Fishing

One of the main industries on Jinoshima is fishing. Ceramic octopus traps can often be seen
lined up on the shore at Tomari Fishing Port. Freshly cooked seafood is sold at stalls during
the Camellia Festival. Common catches include octopus, squid, black sea bream, sea urchin,
and abalone. Female ama divers once lived and worked on the island, free diving for
shellfish, before rising water temperatures reduced the catches of abalone, sea urchin, and
turban shells. Wakame seaweed flourishes off the southeastern coast of Jinoshima. The fronds
are the most commonly used part of wakame, often in miso soup, but Jinoshima residents also

eat the root (mekabu), which is usually boiled, chopped, and served on rice.

s

HSEFREOH(CHBLNZVRICEDNLET. 1 A AN 3 AICEkK] 6,000 KOEFEDY/N
FTHERATY. S BIFEIORITHRELTATNGDET  BICF, FLNASOHEENSHT
ITIIBEN 2 DHDFT . 1996 F. tEZEHTI MBI RIEZIEDID. 2 MFROLECYF0D

ARMEZBENFUIZ, OB, 2 BEIUANTHESERET,

YN+

MSHRCEBIDRTAOYNFOAKE, 1 HTFENS 3 BN TEZEKRNEET . 3 AOMSEF
FODITE, T TENTBENNEE TIRFEIN, BREEROEULNIGDET . FNC(E. ALY
FORZED THEHMESN T BEH(E. Z2VAOFRELCEON. BEECERVLSNET,

RS
S AEEMEND 2 DONSREENDD. TUNKRENSOREm S (FNET  INABIGE
VDITEEEDS TY . HREICENE (RIEDER) 8o TV EBRRIX (1568~1623) O

ARl LDEEREN A T CETDIREEDII RO TVE T,



EfEE
SMEEERIDNEET. BOBRAIIELTVET . COBH—DIEFHERE L EM(CHHE
9, BER T39S Bt T Y F0UMEN, BLSE0IRCHIEHREEL

NEFRWTVET,

= rtika

B OK(CHDID/NSBIHILE, BIREZTOIRE=LHEIEOTVET. 7 B. COBICEST
AR (& HETREILERDZITV., RRELENSTONDIOMDZETET AL (E. BEEMHTZL
FU. B0 DIBNIZILUEZS | WTH O ZKDF T, JRWT. LLUEEZHTERIAERSEAILE. COMH
#HCINEBEZRUFT,

PES

MSOFREZRED 1 DNEETI . HEEDBFTE. YIZHEAZMEEROENTATOSDESLR
MNFIFET, [HEEODITE., FEFBEMNIEETHANTVEY LIENZDE, 5O, (5, /051, D
Z T7IERETT, COETE, AGEN ENDOTPIE, UZ, YUY IOKIBITHIRDFT. REBDTEED

FFRRZIRSBUNESL. BV TOELL, BEORECETIANZERLTVET  TNXTERBLS
EONZDOEFEEROEFD TH. LRI CANDIENZ VDT IN, HIETEST AL ([ THXDIR

TCDERD (HNS) BEAFT . BE. HDHRNEDTTXH. JIFACEETERAET.



| | 012-014 |

Okinoshima Observation Spots

There are two observation areas on Mt. Tomi (182 m), the highest point on Jinoshima, with
sweeping views of the Genkai Sea that extends to the west of the Kyushu coast. Okinoshima
Observatory faces Okinoshima, a sacred island worshipped since ancient times. Around the
region, places with views of Okinoshima are considered yohai, or spots for remote worship of
the island deities, since visitors are not permitted on Okinoshima itself. Local people and

hikers still come to these spots to pay their respects to the island.

There are English signs at Okinoshima Observatory to help visitors locate the island on the
horizon. Next to the observation area are traces of stone walls, believed to be the remains of
an Edo-period (1603-1867) guard house and watchtower, built for observing ships and

spotting whales.

A second observation spot on the Mt. Tomi hiking path, Oshiki Observatory, is a clearing
with views toward Kitakyushu.
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Kurase Observatory

Kurase Observatory, located at the northern end of Jinoshima Island, has views of Oshima
and Okinoshima in the Genkai Sea. A sign at the observatory indicates the position of

Okinoshima on the horizon.

Kurase Observatory is a wide, grassy viewing area with seating, located atop a cliff. Near the
base of the cliff, visitors can see a semi-submerged reef as well as a large rock just offshore

that is similar in shape to a traditional sake flask.

Walking the 1.2-kilometer-long Camellia Road trail to Kurase Observatory takes around 20
minutes from Toyoka Ferry Port. The trail is lined with camellia trees and is suitable for most
fitness levels. About 700 meters before the observatory, a path branches off to the summit of
Mt. Gion (139 m). This path, marked by a stone torii gate, is a little steep and slippery when
wet. Near the top, a small stone shelter (hokora) enshrines the deity Gion Tenjin.

Kurase Observatory is a popular picnic spot for hikers. Boxed lunches (bento) can be

purchased at Nagomi, the only restaurant on the island, located at Toyoka Fishing Port.
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Cycling in Munakata

The cycle path in Munakata allows visitors to explore the area at their own pace. The path is
clearly marked, with a blue-painted lane denoting car-free sections. It passes through
historical and nature sites, including parts of the Genkai Quasi National Park. Most of the
course is flat and suitable for all fitness levels, though there are some steeper sections near
the mountains. Electric bicycles are available on a first-come first-serve basis at bicycle rental

spots.

There are several places to rent bicycles in the Munakata area. The main facility is the Michi
no Eki Munakata Roadside Station, where visitors can get maps and information about the
area. Rental bikes are also available at Togo Station, Akama Station, and the Akamakan
tourist information center, among others. The Munakata area has many roadside restaurants

and cafes with ample bicycle parking.

One of the highlights of the route is the seaside path from the Satsuki Matsubara Promenade
through a grove of black pine trees, to Kanezaki Fishing Port. Further inland, the course
winds through the forested slopes of Mt. Yugawa (471 m), part of the Yotsuka-renzan
mountain range. Much of the course runs through rural areas, past farms and rice fields. As
the course passes Yoshida Dam near Munakata Taisha, riders can enjoy a long straight road

through fields with mountains in the distance.
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Suga-jinja Shrine

Since the late nineteenth century, Shinto rituals to venerate the sacred island of Okinoshima
have been held at Suga-jinja. Every May before the rice planting season begins, local people
gather at the shrine to pray for good health, offering rice and vegetables on an altar, and

praying with the priests in the direction of the island, where one of the Three Female Deities

of Munakata is enshrined.

According to local lore, the tradition began after an outbreak of dysentery in 1890. Some
members of the community traveled to Okinoshima to pray for an end to the illness. Soon
after, the people began to recover, and the spread of the illness halted.

After this miraculous recovery, it became common to venerate Okinoshima from a lookout on
Mt. Araji (249 m), the mountain nearest to Suga-jinja Shrine. Over time, people began to
worship the island from the grounds of the shrine instead of climbing the mountain. A stone
altar next to a set of two stone steps faces toward Mt. Araji and Okinoshima. Visitors can

stand on the steps to get a better view of the peak of Mt. Araji.

As a measure against future outbreaks, the people of Tebika, the village around Suga-jinja
Shrine, introduced a system of collective medical aid. Villagers contributed a percentage of

their rice harvest each year to hire a doctor who served the community.
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Hiking on Mt. Jo

Mt. Jo (369 m) is one of four mountains known collectively as Yotsuka-renzan (“four
mountains”). The path up the mountain from the Akama trailhead is well maintained and has
sturdy log steps. The trail provides views across the whole region, making it popular with

climbers.

The remnants of stone walls near the summit mark the site of Tsutagatake Castle. It is
believed to have been built by the Munakata family in the thirteenth century and was heavily
fortified in 1560 to protect it from enemy attacks. The Munakata family ruled the region until
the sixteenth century and served as the head priests of Munakata Taisha, the collective name

for three shrines venerating the Three Female Deities of Munakata.

Visitors may see some rare plants and fungi on the way up the mountain. In summer, the
yellow kinugasatake mushroom (Phallus luteus), distinguished by a lacy “skirt” that descends
from the cap, grows in the dense forest near the base of the mountain. Further up the
mountain are white varieties of this mushroom. Tsuchiakebi (Cyrtosia septentrionalis), an
unusual type of orchid, grows in the forest. The red, pod-shaped fruit of the plant indicate it
belongs to a variety known as mycoheterotrophic orchids, which feed on fungi rather than
making nutrients through photosynthesis.

Munakata is situated in a basin, and the Yotsuka-renzan mountains are the most prominent
natural landmark. Hikers can climb the mountains without special equipment, and it is

possible to climb all four in one day.
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The Site of Tsutagatake Castle

The remnants of stone walls near the summit of Mt. Jo mark the site of Tsutagatake Castle
(also known as Akamayama Castle). The castle was built in the thirteenth century by the
Munakata family, which ruled the region until the sixteenth century. Remnants of the castle
walls visible along the trail up the mountain give an idea of the castle’s size and its former

defensive capabilities.

Around 1560, the castle was expanded and fortified to serve as a siege fort, with extensive
earthworks such as ridges and moats. The expansion made Tsutagatake Castle the largest
castle in the region. It measured 800 meters east to west and 500 meters from north to south,
including its earthworks. Based on fragments of iron and other archaeological evidence,

blacksmiths likely worked on the castle grounds making arrowheads and other weapons.

The castle survived several attacks from the Otomo family, which controlled much of eastern
Kyushu from the twelfth to sixteenth century. In 1586—1587, Toyotomi Hideyoshi’s forces
took the castle during his campaign to subdue the daimyo families of Kyushu. Toyotomi
(1537-1598) was a powerful warlord and hegemon who completed the sixteenth-century
unification of Japan begun by Oda Nobunaga (1534-1582). The Munakata family was
ordered to leave the castle following their defeat. Parts of the castle were demolished on

Toyotomi’s orders, and the rest fell into ruin.

On a clear day, it is possible to see the sacred island of Okinoshima from the summit of Mt.
Jo. Locations with views of Okinoshima are considered yohai, places for worshipping the
island from afar. The whole island of Okinoshima is off limits to the general public, so people

come to these places to worship.
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Fureai no Mori Park

The 49-hectare grounds of Fureai no Mori Park include forested walking paths and a lookout
point with views of the Genkai Sea to the west of Kyushu. The east side of the park features
an observatory known as Nozomi no Oka, which means “hill of hope.” From the observatory,

visitors can view Okinoshima, a sacred island that has been worshipped since ancient times.

Nesting boxes placed in the park’s forest attract a variety of bird life. Common birds in the
forest include bush warblers, Oriental greenfinches, black-backed wagtails, and white-eye

tits. Night herons can sometimes be spotted around dusk near the park’s two ponds.

Around Oura Pond, the leaves of the gingko trees turn create a carpet of golden leaves in fall.
During winter, fuyu ichigo (Rubus buergeri) vines produce red, raspberry-like fruit in the
forest undergrowth. Camellias flower around Aihara Pond in winter, and spring brings
blossoms to the Yoshino cherry trees, which are planted around the ponds and the sports
grounds.

Other features in Fureai no Mori Park include a children’s playground, a skate park, and two

sheltered pavilions.
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Shiraishi Beach

Shiraishi Beach, an isolated beach north of the city of Fukutsu, is known for its white sand,
clear water, and direct view of Okinoshima, a sacred island that has been worshipped since
ancient times. For centuries, rituals were held on this beach to venerate the deities of

Okinoshima and pray for a good harvest.

Every summer at the end of the rice planting season, people would gather at Shiraishi Beach
to celebrate. They spread tatami mats on the sand and performed a simple ceremony, making
offerings of sake and sekihan (rice cooked with azuki beans) in the direction of Okinoshima.
After the ceremony, the participants would eat together. These traditions continued until the

mid-twentieth century.

The beach is open for swimming between July and August. Outside of the swimming season,
the narrow road to the beach is closed to traffic.
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Mt. Omine Observatory

Mt. Omine Observatory (114.5 m) is located at the highest point of the Watari Peninsula and
offers a panoramic view of several World Heritage sites that are collectively known as the
Sacred Island of Okinoshima and Associated Sites in the Munakata Region. The Shimbaru-
Nuyama Mounded Tomb Group, one of the World Heritage sites, features ancient tombs
(kofun) on a plateau above the city of Fukutsu. The tombs were built in the fifth and sixth
centuries for the Munakata family, which ruled over the region. Photographs of the tombs are

on display near the observatory.

From the observatory, visitors can see the islands of Ainoshima, Oshima, and, on a clear day,
the sacred island of Okinoshima. The park around the observatory is known locally as Togo
Park for its monument to the Naval Battle of the Sea of Japan, during the Russo-Japanese
War (1904-1905). The battle took place on May 27, 1905, in the Tsushima Strait, off the
coast of Fukutsu. The Japanese fleet was commanded by Admiral Togo Heihachiro (1848—
1934). During the decisive battle, two-thirds of the Russian fleet was destroyed, effectively

ending the war.

The observatory and monument are within Mt. Omine Nature Park, which has hiking trails
around the mountain. The nature park features cherry trees and Japanese maples. The path to
the observatory is lined with evergreen camellia trees and with large Japanese bay trees

believed to be around 200 years old.
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Mt. Araji and Konpira-jinja Shrine

Two Shinto shrines, Miyajidake-jinja and Konpira-jinja, are located on either side of Mt.
Araji (249 m). A hiking trail links them. Near the summit of Mt. Araji, two torii gates stand
in a clearing, with views toward the sacred island of Okinoshima. The clearing is used by
those who wish to worship the island from afar. The sweeping view through the torii gates
across the city of Fukutsu and out to the Genkai Sea is popular with photographers.

Konpira-jinja Shrine was originally built at the summit of Mt. Araji but was moved to the
base of the mountain during the Edo period (1603—-1867). The shrine has a relationship with
Konpira-jinja Shrine in Kagawa; both enshrine Omononushi, a deity of the sea and guardian
of seafarers. Konpira-jinja Shrine is known for its autumn harvest festival, held every year on
September 9. Local people dress as members of the Kuroda family, which ruled the region
during the Edo period, and in a colorful procession carry a portable shrine from Konpira-jinja
Shrine to the sea and back.
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Tsuyazaki Sengen Historic District

Tsuyazaki Sengen is a historic district in Fukutsu with well-preserved merchant houses from
the Meiji era (1868-1912). The area gets its name from the large number of houses that once
lined the narrow streets (sengen means “a thousand houses™). Some of the historic buildings
are open to visitors. The town flourished as the center of the local salt industry until salt
production came under government control in 1905. The Tsuyazaki salt fields were closed in
1911.

Traditional businesses

Aino Ie (“Indigo House”) is a former indigo dyeing workshop, built in 1901. It is now open
to the public as a folk museum. Next to Ai no le stands the family-run Toyomura Sake
Brewery, founded in 1874. Visitors can enter the Meiji-era storefront. The brewery at the
back of the property is open to the public during events and festivals. The family-run Harada
workshop has been making Tsuyazaki ningyo, hand-painted molded clay dolls, for over 240
years. The Harada family makes the figures for the annual Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa

Festival floats.

The tourist information center, Tsuyazaki Sengen Nagomi, is designed to resemble a
traditional merchant house. It has exhibitions and displays about the area’s history, along

with pamphlets and maps.

A legendary shrine

Namiori-jinja, a Shinto shrine in the heart of the Tsuyazaki Sengen district, venerates three
deities believed to protect fishermen. According to a local legend, three fishermen from
Tsuyazaki were once caught in a heavy storm. They prayed for safety, and three deities
appeared, who guided the fishermen safely to an island just off the coast. After several days,
the storm subsided, and the fishermen returned safely to port. The fishermen found three
stones on their ship, which they believed represented the deities. They took the stones back to
Tsuyazaki and founded Namiori-jinja to enshrine the stones and venerate the deities who had

saved them.



A stone statue in the shrine precincts depicts a “surfing rabbit” standing on the crest of a
wave. The statue was donated to the shrine by local community members in 1927—a year of

the rabbit, according to the Chinese zodiac.

The shrine is the starting point of the Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa Festival each July. This
festival dates back over 300 years. It features a colorful race between teams carrying ornate

wooden floats through narrow streets.
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Aino le

Ai no Ie (“Indigo House”) is a townhouse and former indigo dye workshop, built in 1901. It
is now open to the public as a folk museum. The building has been well preserved, and it
gives visitors a clear sense of how houses in the area would have looked in the Meiji era
(1868-1912).

Sliding wooden doors open to the genkan entrance, with a tataki floor of pounded earth. This
entrance would have been used for sales calls and deliveries. Guests would have been invited
to step up to the main reception rooms after removing their shoes. The reception rooms have
tatami floors and can be closed off with sliding wooden partitions. Some of the ceiling beams
above the genkan were soaked in seawater for several years to protect the wood from insect

damage, in a process called shiogi. A fine white salt residue is still visible on the beams.

Ai no le was built with features that help control the temperature inside. The facade has
slatted wooden screens to regulate sunlight and wind entering the house. These screens can
be completely removed to open the house to the street. Bay windows at the front of the house
open to the cool sea breeze. In the interior rooms, hand-carved wooden ranma (transom
panels) allow light and air to flow through the space. At the back of the house, a courtyard
garden with a well brings more natural light into the rooms. Fabric would have been dyed
here. The toilet and bath are connected to the main house by a corridor running along one

side of the garden.

Local volunteer guides at the house point out the building’s special features to visitors. Indigo
dye workshops require reservations. Ai no le was registered as a National Tangible Cultural
Property in 2007.
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Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa Festival

The Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa Festival dates back over 300 years. The main event is a
colorful race between three teams carrying ornate wooden floats through the narrow streets of
the Tsuyazaki district in Fukutsu. The teams, representing Fukutsu’s three neighborhoods,
begin at Namiori-jinja Shrine and then follow different routes before their paths converge,
and a battle to the finish line ensues.

Towering floats

Each float (yamakasa) is around 5 meters high, weighs about one ton, and is carried by a
team of 30 community members. Floats are decorated with elaborate battle scenes featuring
fearsome warriors on horseback, castles, and sprays of blossoms and painted waves. The
warrior figurines are traditional Tsuyazaki ningyo dolls, made from clay and painted in vivid
colors. Each neighborhood builds their float by hand, using traditional construction
techniques passed down through generations.

The three rival neighborhoods are identified by their colored headbands (hachimaki): Kita,
the fishing port, wears pink; Shinmachi, the commercial district, wears yellow; and Oka, the

agricultural area, wears red.

Prayers against epidemics

The festival was adapted from the Hakata Gion Yamakasa Festival, which has been held in
Fukuoka for over 780 years. Both festivals are held to protect the city against epidemics and
disasters. The festival was halted during World War 11, but fully resumed, after some stops
and starts, in 1975. The Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa Festival is held on the weekend closest to
July 19, starting with a Saturday evening lantern procession through the streets, followed by
the main race on Sunday morning. At the end of the festival, the teams give decorations from
the floats to local households to protect them from disease and disaster. These hand-painted
talismans are attached to the doorways of many houses in the Tsuyazaki Sengen merchant

district.
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Tsuyazaki Sengen Oysters

Tsuyazaki Sengen oysters are carefully cultivated on rafts near the Tsuyazaki tidal flats,
where the intertidal waters impart a sweet and salty flavor to the oysters. While small oysters
grow naturally off the coast of Fukutsu, the Tsuyazaki fishing cooperative has been

successful in cultivating larger ones.

The fishing cooperative works with Fukuoka Prefectural Suisan Marine Studies High School,
a vocational school in Fukutsu that specializes in aquaculture and marine science. High
school students help with seeding and harvesting the oysters. Each oyster is moved by hand
around the rafts to ensure equal exposure to the algae-rich tidal waters and to avoid
overcrowding. It takes around a year for the oysters to reach maturity. During the winter
harvest period, visitors can buy fresh oysters at Umigame Fish Center at Tsuyazaki Port.

Many local restaurants also serve fresh Tsuyazaki Sengen oysters in the winter.
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Fukutsu Sea Bream Chazuke

Chazuke is a dish of cooked rice topped with slices of fish, served with broth poured over top.
Wild sea bream (tai) is a major catch in Fukutsu and is often served in chazuke. Diners can
customize chazuke by adding extra toppings, such as wasabi, dried seaweed (nori), scallions,
and sesame seeds. The sea bream is served as sashimi, often lightly marinated in a mixture of
soy sauce, sake, and sesame oil. The hot broth (made of green tea or dashi fish stock) lightly
cooks the fish and changes the texture of the flesh. Diners can try the fish raw before adding
the broth.

The main seasons for sea bream are late spring and autumn. Fukutsu usually holds a Tai
Chazuke Fair from mid-May through the end of June. Local restaurants produce their own

variations on the dish, ranging from traditional to European fusion.

In Japanese culture, sea bream is often served for special occasions, as its red color and
rounded shape signify good luck. The name “tai” also sounds like the word “medetai,” which
means “celebration.” Sea bream is eaten at New Year’s and at weddings, and a whole sea

bream is often presented to winning sumo wrestlers.
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Anzu no Sato Farmers’ Market

Anzu no Sato is a farmers’ market selling local fruits and vegetables, fresh fish, and other
products such as sauces, pickles, snacks, and boxed lunches. Fukutsu has a warm climate
with frost-free winters, making it an ideal location for cultivating flowers and produce year-
round. Products are displayed at the market with photos and messages from the local growers,

makers, and fishermen.

Local crafts and souvenirs are also sold in the market, and sightseeing pamphlets for tourists
are displayed in this area. A restaurant and a community center are connected to the market.
Visitors can take part in cooking classes and craft workshops at the community center.

Anzu no Sato is named after the apricot (anzu) orchard that spreads across the hills above the
market. Steps lead from the parking lot through the orchard to Anzu no Sato Park at the top
of the hill. The large park has views over the Genkai Sea. There are 2,500 apricot trees in the
orchard. Visitors can enjoy apricot blossoms and cherry blossoms in spring. In summer, the

market sells fresh apricots and apricot jam.

The market started in 1994, when a group of farmers’ wives gathered at a spot on the
highway to sell their farm produce from the backs of pickup trucks. Two years later, it

developed into a permanent market, selling local produce and products.
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Umigame Fish Center

The Umigame Fish Center at Tsuyazaki Port is a fresh fish and local produce market. The
facility is next to the docks, and early-morning visitors can watch daily catches being

unloaded from the fishing boats and brought directly to the market.

A wide variety of fresh local seafood is sold in the market, including red sea bream, squid,
yellowtail, turban shells, and Tsuyazaki Sengen oysters, which are cultivated on the tidal flats
nearby. The market sells fresh fish, along with local produce such as vegetables, soy sauce,
and sake. For an extra fee, fish can be cleaned and filleted or prepared as sashimi. Large tanks
with live fish feature the local marine life.

On Sunday mornings, fishing families hold a market along the docks, selling directly from
their boats. Several different types of fishing boats line the docks, including larger trawlers
and squid boats. The Fukutsu area is famous for squid, which feed on small fish in the
shallow waters off the coast. Squid fishing takes place at night, and the squid boats are
distinguished by multiple strings of lights that attract small fish and, consequently, the squid,
which follow their prey toward the lights.

Dense phytoplankton blooms thrive in the waters around Fukutsu, nurtured by the warm
Tsushima Current—the northward-flowing current that runs along the west coast of the
Japanese archipelago. These phytoplankton-rich waters bring small fish, shrimp and crabs

that migrate to follow the food source, creating ideal fishing conditions.
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Fukutsu Beaches

Fukutsu is located on a gently curving bay that faces the Genkai Sea, protected by headlands
at each end. This stretch of coast is divided into several sheltered beaches, suitable for
swimming and watersports. The main beaches are Fukuma, Miyajihama, and Tsuyazaki.
These west-facing beaches have sunset views. In August, fireworks launched from floating
platforms in the water light up the sky, and visitors can watch from the beachfronts.

Fukuma Beach

Fukuma is the liveliest of Fukutsu’s beaches, with cafes, restaurants, and surf shops open all
year along the beachfront. Fukuma Beach has a variety of accommodations, including simple
family-run inns (minshuku), boutique hotels, and a glamping area. At the south end of the
beach is a tourist information center, called “Beach House,” with maps and pamphlets about

local activities like windsurfing and stand-up paddleboarding (SUP).

Miyajihama Beach

Miyajihama is a quiet beach between Fukuma and Tsuyazaki Beaches. There is a parking
area and toilets. A stone torii gate marks the road leading from the beach to Miyajidake
Shrine.

Tsuyazaki Beach

To the north of Miyajihama, Tsuyazaki Beach is quieter than Fukuma Beach, with fewer
shops. The beach is wide, and the water is shallow, making it suitable for children. Many of
the beach houses were built in the Showa era (1926-1989), and the area has a laid-back, retro
atmosphere. Some of the beach houses have been converted into inns and restaurants. There
is a public bath facility next to the beach called “Shioyu no Sato Yuhikan,” which features
heated seawater.
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Memorial to the Naval Battle of the Sea of Japan

This memorial at the summit of Mt. Omine (114.5 m) commemorates Japan’s naval victory
during the Russo-Japanese war (1904-1905). The war started over rival imperial ambitions in
Asia, as both sides sought to control strategic territories in China. The Naval Battle of the Sea
of Japan took place on May 27, 1905, in the Tsushima Strait, off the coast of Fukutsu. The
Japanese fleet was commanded by Admiral Togo Heihachiro (1848-1934). During the

decisive battle, two-thirds of the Russian fleet was destroyed, effectively ending the war.

The memorial is located at the highest point of the Watari Peninsula, and was erected in
1934, the year of Togo’s death. It loosely resembles the forward deck and cannon of the
Japanese battleship Mikasa, the flagship of the Japanese fleet. There are two bronze plaques
on the memorial: one depicts Admiral Togo Heihachiro, and the other commemorates the
maritime signal flag that Togo ordered hoisted on the Mikasa to rally the fleet as it sailed into
battle. The flag conveyed the message, “Let each man do his utmost.” The memorial was
originally intended to be named “Victory in the Russo-Japanese War,” but according to local

accounts, Togo objected to the word “victory” as he mourned the casualties on both sides.

Admiral Togo was sometimes referred to as the “Japanese Lord Nelson” for his strategic
abilities. As a naval cadet at the Royal Naval College in London, he developed an admiration
for Lord Nelson. His decision to raise the signal flag in battle may have been inspired by

those raised on Nelson’s flagship HMS Victory at the Battle of Trafalgar a century earlier.

Behind the memorial is a small observation area overlooking the Tsushima Strait, where the

battle took place. A cast-iron map indicates the key engagements in the battle.

BAEiEEEC =

KUEIL (114.5 m) OJE E(CHDIDERMEE, BEEHSE (1904~1905 £F) (CHIFDAABED
BRZEERUEBDTY . 727 (CHITBHEDEFLENSEFENAFD, FEEROHESHRETZ5H<
YTRANFEWVEULZ. BAEEE(E 1905 4 5 A 27 B, @&P0BBERTESEEU, BARD



BB EZEROTLVZDE, SREFF/\BB (1848~1934 £F) MBEARIFTUR, CORTERIDEVDENC,

O> 7RERD 2/3 [FiREN . BEREF(IHRIEI LICRDFELL,

COEZHEE BEFEOREFVEIAICAIBLTHED. BN TR 1934 F(EIISNFU,
DECSMRE, B ARG ORGSO s = 2 ORTERARE ERTOPATOET , SERARIC(E 2 DO
RH'EHD, —DFEREPFENEHRENMENN . B DFREMERDOHE(CEDE =X (HBIHLITE
HESHEEZRUZEDTY . COME. [RE—EBEMB NI ILVOABTZILADBDOTLUZ, D35S
SRS, FolEl B EEEBAEDSE [cDIBNSFETURZ. UNULCOMBIICIZNSEE TS, B4

HEERHGOIEEZIRVAT, [BFIEWSEECRIUEESTY.

ERIPAIHITOEBREE N (CLD. [BARORIVY VI EMFHEIN BT EEHDEUIZ, IO RO DEITHE
BIIFROEEOEFC, RILYVREINENZIZELITRDFU BWCHEWTESEZIBITHED
RIPORTEF, TNLD 100 FRICKST7IVH —DBETRIVY > HIERED HMS Victory (CHBITAE

SIENSFEEZRIEONBLNERA.

COEEZHRDEBICE, WM TONT BB E LU/ N\ SRR EFMNHDE T . HrEkR DN (FHkET

DEBERREZ KL TVET,



| | 012-033 |

Omori Shrine and the Legend of the Catfish

Omori Shrine in the Saigo neighborhood of Fukutsu is distinguished by several statues of
catfish, linking the shrine to a local fable. According to this story, Kawazu Okimitsu (dates
unknown), a samurai who owned the lands around Saigo, was saved by a catfish. Kawazu
was a vassal of the powerful Ouchi family, which controlled much of western Japan between
the twelfth and fourteenth centuries. On the orders of the Ouchi family, he fought at the battle
of Funaokayama in Kyoto in 1511 and was badly injured. As he lay on a shore, close to
death, a giant catfish appeared and carried him across the water to the camp of his allies,

where he could receive medical attention.

Kawazu Okimitsu believed the catfish who saved him was the manifestation of his ancestral
deity (ujigami). Upon his return to Saigo, he forbade the local people from eating catfish.

Catfish have become a symbol of the area, and catfish images are featured on local signage.

Catfish statues at the shrine

In front of the main torii gate is a large bronze catfish (namazu). In front of the main worship
hall, two more catfish act as guardians, one with its mouth open and the other with it closed,
in place of the komainu (lion or fox) guardian statues usually found at shrines. A painting
inside the main hall of Omori Shrine depicts the legend, with Kawazu Okimitsu in full

samurai armor, riding a giant black catfish across the water.

The shrine is set within lush gardens with a pond and a red bridge. A large park called
Namazu no Sato (“home of the catfish”) is close to the shrine and contains a traditional

garden with a pond filled with catfish.
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Nagi Trees in Sharikura Natural Forest

Five large nagi trees (Nageia nagi, or Asian bayberry) in a clearing in Sharikura Natural
Forest mark the site of the former Shohoji Temple, built in 718. There are said to have been
around 15 small temple buildings in the forest, but they burned down around 950. A small

worship hall and a bell tower, both built more recently, stand among the trees.

These five nagi trees are said to be over 800 years old. Local legends claim that the largest
tree, located next to the bell tower, was brought back from India as a sapling by the revered
priest Gyoki (668—749), who raised funds to build Todaiji Temple in Nara. Gyoki is thought
to have planted the tree when he founded Shohoji Temple.

Nagi trees are often found on the grounds of temples and shrines. The leaves are thick, with
vertical veins that are difficult to tear. This strength made them popular as talismans against
bad luck and symbolic of the bonds between couples. Visitors can access the trees by
following a bamboo-lined path next to Sharikura Civic Hall.
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Conger Eels

Conger eels (anago) are common in the waters off the Munakata coast. The area yields the
highest volume of conger eels (anago) in Fukuoka, and most of the catch is landed at the port
of Kanezaki. The eels thrive in the warm waters of the Tsushima Current, which flows north
past Munakata, along the west coast of the Japanese archipelago. Rich phytoplankton blooms
thrive in the warm water, bringing with them small fish, shrimp, and crabs that migrate with

the current. Conger eels feed on these small marine creatures.

The eels are caught in long tube traps (about 1.5 meters long) partially submerged on the
seabed where they feed. Each trap can hold five or six full-sized eels, each up to a meter long.
Undersized eels are able to escape through holes, so only the more mature eels are caught.

The eels are kept alive in tanks until they are ready to be sold.

The main variety caught around Munakata is the whitespotted conger (Conger myriaster). It
is smaller than a freshwater eel, with smooth brown skin and a line of white spots along each
side of the body. The eels develop firm flesh by swimming against the strong currents off the

coast of Munakata.

The fishing season for whitespotted conger eels runs from May to November. From late July
to the end of September, restaurants in Munakata serve conger eel as sashimi, tempura or as
grilled eel fillets. Conger eel-flavored rice crackers are widely available at souvenir shops in

the area.
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Tiger Puffer Fish

Kanezaki Fishing Port in Munakata lands the most tiger puffer fish (torafugu) in Fukuoka.
The rough seas off the coast of Munakata are believed to foster the growth of strong, firm-
fleshed puffer fish.

Tiger puffer fish are considered a delicacy in Japan. Known simply as “fugu,” this fish is
renowned for its delicate flavor and firm texture. Tiger puffer fish contain a potent
neurotoxin, concentrated in the liver and ovaries, and chefs need a special license to prepare

the fish. The special preparation makes fugu an expensive dish.

Puffer fish is commonly eaten raw as paper-thin sashimi, arranged on a plate to resemble a
chrysanthemum flower. A hotpot with tofu and vegetables (tecchiri) is a popular way to
enjoy the fish in Munakata. Winter is the peak season for tiger puffer fish. As protection from
the cold, the fish gain a layer of fat, which gives the flesh a richer flavor. From February to
March, restaurants across Munakata celebrate the catch, offering tiger puffer fish dishes at

reduced prices.

EBMNS

REDEIEFEEE. BETROZDESICHIKIBIFENSETT . RIFPOFTRNLOMELTZPFT
EOEVNTI O EREBOEEISNTVET,

HATE. E5CEEIRIEZZILNTVET HIC[ A IEEREESIKDIETT , £55K(F. BD5|
SHEOTTHHBIRDVTERTY,, LA (CIERNRHESNZINTHD. FFICHTIELINE(CEH
LTWWET . AXZRIE T Z(CIFRI B RIFNME T SCREENSMROE, F5RIR RN ETH

5TY,



SCFHRDLIITBEVRIF(CL. BOTEDLSCHIMICED DI TEAZON—HRIITT . ™METIE. =
J& - BFSREMCT DI THED N, SCOZEULAHFFELTARNDDDET , E5MDAITZTT , EHAKEFR
DESHHSEZFIREREDEZ DT, INHEDENMRERDWVESZF T, 2~3 Al REFPOREEE
W KB ZERLVEIS MEA& TES M RERZIRHUE T,



| | 012-037 |

Introduction to Munakata

Munakata is a coastal region north of Fukuoka City, facing the Genkai Sea and bordered by
mountains. The area contains a World Heritage site consisting of Shinto shrines, ancient

burial mounds, and a sacred island.

Nango area
Nango, on the east side of Munakata, is closest to Fukuoka. The Karatsu Kaido, an Edo-
period (1603-1867) highway connecting Fukuoka and Saga, runs through the area.

Harumachi, a section of the traditional streetscape, remains.

Genkai and Akama areas

The Genkai area on the coast has fishing ports and beaches. It is home to Hetsu-miya, the
largest of the three Munakata Taisha shrines. The inland Akama area is bordered by
mountains and includes Akamajuku, an Edo-period post town on the historic Karatsu Kaido

highway.

Munakata’s islands

The islands of Oshima and Jinoshima are easy to visit by ferry from Konominato Port.
Oshima is home to two shrines—Nakatsu-miya Shrine and Okitsu-miya Y ohaisho—and the
remains of an artillery battery from World War I1. Jinoshima is known for its groves of

camellia trees and easy hiking trails.

World Heritage sites

Munakata has long been an important stop for seafarers to pray for safety before traveling to
the Asian continent. Dating back to the fourth century, rituals to protect seafarers were
performed on the sacred island of Okinoshima, about 60 kilometers off the coast. The rituals
are some of the earliest known examples of Shinto practices. The island and other spiritual
locations in Munakata were designated a World Heritage site in 2017 as the Sacred Island of

Okinoshima and Associated Sites in the Munakata Region.



The World Heritage site comprises Munakata Taisha—three Shinto shrines venerating the
Three Female Deities of Munakata—the sacred island of Okinoshima, and around 40 ancient
burial mounds (kofun) for members of the Munakata family, which governed the area until
the sixteenth century.
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Introduction to Fukutsu

Fukutsu is a small coastal city facing the Genkai Sea, located between the major cities of
Fukuoka and Kitakyushu. The area has farms, beaches, and a historic merchant district with

well-preserved houses from the Meiji era (1868-1912).

Famous shrines and beaches
Fukutsu is best known for Miyajidake-jinja Shrine. This large Shinto shrine stands at the end
of a long straight road to the sea, known as the Hikari no Michi (“path of light”). Twice a

year, the setting sun lines up exactly with the path, causing it to glow with golden light.

Fukutsu has wide sandy beaches, including the main beaches of Tsuyazaki, Miyajihama, and

Fukuma—uwith cafes, restaurants, and marine sports shops—and the quieter Shiraishi Beach.

World Heritage sites

The Sacred Island of Okinoshima and Associated Sites in the Munakata Region was
designated a World Heritage site in 2017. Visitors to Fukutsu can see the Shinbaru-Nuyama
Mounded Tomb Group, where 41 burial mounds (kofun) were built between the fifth and
sixth centuries for members of the Munakata family, which ruled the region until the

sixteenth century.

Tsuyazaki Sengen historic district

During the Edo period (1603-1867), the Tsuyazaki Sengen district was a wealthy merchant
town, thanks to the area’s salt production. At that time, there were said to be over a thousand
houses in the district. Most of the original Edo-period houses burned down, but several fine

examples from the Meiji era have survived.

In July, during the Tsuyazaki Gion Yamakasa Festival, the narrow streets of the Tsuyazaki
district are crowded with spectators. Teams representing Fukutsu’s three neighborhoods race

through the streets carrying ornate wooden floats. This festival dates back over 300 years.
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Remote Worship in Munakata

Okinoshima is a sacred island off the coast of Munakata. Access is restricted to a handful of
Shinto priests who serve there. For people to worship the deity enshrined at Okitsu-miya

Shrine on the island and the sacred island itself, they must engage in remote worship (yohai).

The practice of remote worship is common in and around Munakata, where the Three Female
Deities of Munakata (enshrined at Hetsu-miya, Nakatsu-miya, and Okitsu-miya Shrines),
have been revered for over a thousand years. Worship halls like the one at Okitsu-miya
Yohaisho on the island of Oshima have been built at some locations, but many yohai spots
around Munakata are simple vantage points, on mountaintops or beaches, with a clear view of
the sacred island. There are several yohai spots around Munakata, including points along the

Satsuki Matsubara Promenade.

Until the mid-twentieth century, ceremonies to honor the deities of Okinoshima were
commonplace, especially in coastal areas. Farmers would make offerings of food and sake at
a yohai spot, to give thanks for a successful rice planting season and to pray for a good
harvest and good health. Although these formal ceremonies are now rare, people from the

area still visit these spots to offer prayers.
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Remote Worship in Fukutsu

Okinoshima is a sacred island off the coast of Munakata and Fukutsu. Access is restricted to a
handful of Shinto priests who serve there. Worshippers of the island and the deity enshrined

there at Okitsu-miya Shrine must engage in a practice of remote worship (yohai).

The practice of remote worship is widespread across the Munakata region, including in
Fukutsu, where the Three Female Deities of Munakata (enshrined at Hetsu-miya, Nakatsu-
miya, and Okitsu-miya Shrines) have been revered for thousands of years. While some
worship locations are structures, many yohai spots around Fukutsu are simple vantage points
on mountainsides or beaches. There are several yohai spots around Fukutsu, including the
village of Tebika and Shiraishi Beach.

Until the mid-twentieth century, ceremonies were commonly held at the end of rice planting,
to honor the deities of Okinoshima. People would make offerings of food and sake at a yohai
spot, to give thanks for a successful planting and pray for a good harvest or good catch, and
good health. Although these formal ceremonies are no longer common, they are still held at

Suga-jinja Shrine, and people from the area still visit these spots to offer prayers.
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